COMPLAINT – OFFICIAL MISCONDUCT (18 U.S.C. § 241, 18 U.S.C. § 242) § 2
2900 S. Waynesville Rd.
Morrow, OH 45152

November 15, 2011

Special Agent Edward J. Hanko
John Weld Peck Federal Bldg.
550 Main Street, Suite 9000
Cincinnati, OH 45202
Re: Federal Civil Rights Statutes; Title 18, U.S.C., Section 242, Deprivation of Rights Under Color
of Law and Title 18, U.S.C., Section 241, Conspiracy Against Rights.
Dear Special Agent Hanko,
I had stated that I would follow up on the 05/13/2010 Jury Trial – 2921.52 using sham legal
process. This is an appendage (section 2) to the complaint I filed with the Civil Rights Unit,
Criminal Investigative Division on 6/06/2011; Re: Official Misconduct (under Federal Civil Rights
Statutes; 18 U.S.C. § 241 and 18 U.S.C. § 242).
As you may recall I had stated that on 9/19/2008, Judge Sunderland sustained all summary
judgments with the exception of McGowan’s countersuit which was rescheduled. Actually it
was rescheduled 3 or 4 times. “Note: McGowan was my attorney during the probate period.”

Trial date set for 7/13/2009 – Lilley v. McGowan
One of the McGowan trials was suppose to take place on Monday, 7/13/2009. There was never
a plan for any of the cases to ever go to trial so none of the attorneys had ever prepared for a
trial. The evidence (deposition of defendants and witnesses, production of documents by
Dunlap, interrogatories, expert witness for Co-administrators Dunlap and Hedges, etc.) to be
used in McGowan’s trial was the same evidence that would have been required for Dunlap’s
trial.
If any evidence was introduced against McGowan, it would expose probate corruption. Another
problem is that McGowan’s malpractice insurance did not want to bear the full burden for the
misconduct of Dunlap and Hedges. Therefore there could be no trial, unless they got very
creative with their motions and orders. Still there would be a problem on how the keep me

from testifying at my own trial, not only about probate corruption but the cover-ups and
corruption during the civil cases as well.
On Friday, 7/10/2009, in the star chambers, they apparently came up with a creative solution; a
court order signed by David Sunderland with a time stamp 7/10/2009, 12:53pm stating;
“Plaintiff concedes that he will introduce no evidence that McGowan’s representation in the
probate matters fall below any standard of care based upon this Court’s grant of summary
judgment to McGowan on that point.”. “I never made this statement and I didn’t find out about
it until about 10 months later.” “The grant of summary judgment to McGowan was based on a
Case Law that did not apply”
Note:
I never conceded to any such statement; the standard of care of McGowan’s representation in the
probate matters is what the lawsuit against McGowan was all about”. I don’t know where they
were planning on using this lie, but in general these statements of the fabricated truth are used to
steer a case to a predetermined decision.
Motions, Orders, Decisions and Entries are just riddled with the fabricated statements, which is
very difficult for someone not familiar with this case to distinguish from the real truth. The probate
documents were also riddled with the fabricated statements; I have seen false statements go
through the Court of Appeals with court opinions that did not come out anywhere close to the
truth, all base on fabricated evidence.

On Monday, 7/13/2009, the parties and the jury pool show up, although there was never any
plan to have a trial. No exchange of documents, no pretrial conference, and I were the only
witness for the plaintiff. There was no jury selection; the entire day was spent with the judge
and lawyers trying to come up with a clever way to keep me (the plaintiff) from testifying as a
witness. If they were going to let me have a trial, they would make sure there was nothing fair
about it and that it would be rigged in McGowan’s favor.
Every time I insisted on continuing with the trial, they would look for creative ways to keep me
from testifying as a witness. My logic was simple, if the case continued and I could testify as a
witness the jury would rule in my favor. It would then go to the Court of Appeals and the
Summary Judgment Scam would be reviled.
The trial attempt was just another con game to force me into submission. Even if there was a
trial it would have fell far below the Ohio Rule of Civil Procedure. Judge Sunderland was acting
in a manner violative of the Federal Constitution; therefore he is stripped of his official or
representative character, he was not acting as a judge but a private individual.
The U.S. Supreme Court, in Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 94 S.Ct. 1683, 1687 (1974)
stated that "when a state officer acts under a state law in a manner violative of the Federal
Constitution, he "comes into conflict with the superior authority of that Constitution, and he is
in that case stripped of his official or representative character and is subjected in his person
to the consequences of his individual conduct. The State has no power to impart to him any
immunity from responsibility to the supreme authority of the United States." [Emphasis
supplied in original]. By law, a judge is a state officer. The judge then acts not as a judge, but
as a private individual (in his person).

Under Federal law which is applicable to all states, the U.S. Supreme Court stated that if a
court is "without authority, its judgments and orders are regarded as nullities. They are not
voidable, but simply void; and form no bar to a recovery sought, even prior to a reversal in
opposition to them. They constitute no justification; and all persons concerned in executing
such judgments or sentences, are considered, in law, as trespassers." Elliot v. Piersol, 1 Pet.
328, 340, 26 U.S. 328, 340 (1828)

Director Mueller has said, “When just one of us loses just one of our rights, then the
freedoms of all of us are diminished.”

Trial date set for 5/20/2010 – Lilley v. McGowan
On a January 7, 2010 status conference, Judge Sunderland, F. Harrison Green and George
Jonson came up with another clever ruse. The purpose of this trial was not about my lawsuit
against McGowan, but McGowan’s countersuit.
George Jonson (McGowan’s attorney) wanted his counterclaim, or there would not have been
any trial scheduled at all. It was just to bias, for me to ever win my claims.

These were the rules;


Harrison Green would withdraw and I was ordered to act pro se.



The parties will exchange a full set of marked trial exhibits…
o The defendants never produced any exhibits in violation of Rule 34.
o Green had never prepared for a trial; there were no depositions, no documents
requested, no interrogatories, and no expert witness report.
o I was not allowed to conduct my own discovery
o The judge would not compel the documents
o I was not allowed to use any court documents
I was not allowed to testify as a witness
I was not allowed to make statement of fact
I was not allowed to retain counsel to represent me with diligent in accordance to the
Ohio Code of Professional Conduct, Federal, State, and local laws.





Out of the six parties in the civil cases, I was to only one to give a deposition and produce
documents. It was only for the purpose of McGowan’s countersuit that was rigged before it
even started.

Do to the Summary Judgment Scam; this trial was not legal in the first place.
When a litigant exposes a judge violative to the Constitution or inappropriate conduct; if he
files a grievance, complaint, or lawsuit against a judge, or if a judge wants to deny the admission
of evidence prejudicial to their favored parties, it is common practice for a judge to accuse that
person of being incompetent for whatever reason.
A judge is not a Forensic Psychologist and cannot accuse someone as being incompetent to
testify as a witness on a whim. An evaluation by a Forensic Psychologist cost about $8,000.



On 3/14/2008, Defendant Brenda Dunlap responded to Plaintiff’s First Request for Production of
Documents, refusing to hand over any documents requested.



On 6/23/2008, Defendant Brenda Dunlap responded to Plaintiff’s Second Request for
Production of Documents, refusing to hand over any documents requested.



On 7/21/2007, I received an e-mail from Harrison Green “Per the rules of discovery and rules of
professionalism, we have sent a letter to counsel prior to filing a motion to compel, which the
rules of discovery require. The judge will order counsel to deliver the documents should they
fail to provide them.”



On 9/12/2007, I received and e-mail from Harrison Green “documents you have requested from
Dunlap cannot be compelled… We may take Dunlap’s deposition pending rulings by Judge
Sunderland”

E-mail conversion with Warren County Magistrate, Crossley-Tate, Page – Judge Sunderland’s
assigned assistant and Defendant Co-administrator/Chief Magistrate Judge Brenda Dunlap’s
friend and colleague.
Hello Paige,
Prospective counsel requested a hard copy of the judge’s request of things he wanted me to do. I
could hardly understand what he was saying, he doesn’t talk very loud.
They also requested a copy of the Scheduling Order; Cutoff dates for Discovery, Dispositive
Motions, Motions in Limine, Expert Witness, etc. Since Green didn’t do any discovery what so
ever, they will need to start all over from scratch.
They looked on the court docket and there is nothing there.
I will need these documents before any counsel will ever think about considering the case, ASAP.

Steve,
The scheduling orders in each file were made a long time ago—they will appear on the court’s
docket in each case, probably dated in 2008.
Also, since you represent yourself right now, you will have a copy of the Orders filed this week
mailed to you personally.
Anything else you need, you can copy from the Court’s files in the Clerk’s office. And you may file
a written request for whatever transcripts you need.
Regards.

Page
The 2008 scheduling orders were for the trial set for March 2008, they need the scheduling order
for the April 2010 trial, they all tell me they cannot prepare for a trial in that short of time. Until I
present them a scheduling order for the April 2010 trial they won’t even talk to me.

Thanks,
Steve

Steve, the only things rescheduled were a final pretrial and a trial. There is no new discovery
cutoff and no new summary judgment deadline. You need to find an attorney who is willing to
step in and try a case that was essentially prepared by another attorney.
I cannot give you any more specific information about your case. I encourage you to keep looking
for a new attorney.
Good luck.

LEGAL ABUSE SYNDROME (LAS) is a form of post traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). It is
a psychic injury, not a mental illness. It is a personal injury that develops in individuals
assaulted by ethical violations, legal abuses, betrayals, and fraud. Abuse of power and authority
and a profound lack of accountability in our courts have become rampant, compounding an
already stressful experience.
This stress can and does lead to physical illness. AMA statistics show that around 85% of all
physical illness is directly attributable to stress. Legal Abuse Syndrome is a public health
menace in this country. It leads to massive medical intervention costs, burdens insurance
companies, and adds to Medicare and Social Security costs. Most painfully, it crushes the
brilliance and creativity of its sufferers. Legal Abuse Syndrome is detrimental to all of society,
and nobody is immune.
Whatever the court setting, whether it is regarding divorce, child custody, parental support,
probate matters, personal injury, property disputes, legal or medical malpractice, criminal
charges or other deeply personal issues, the frauds put forth in our courts add greatly to the
trauma. When litigants are unable to get fair resolution to their issues, when the court
dysfunction further adds to the litigant's burden, when no amount of actual case law compels an
equitable outcome, litigants suffer often disabling levels of stress. When further attempts to
achieve redress fail, litigants display the hallmark signs of Legal Abuse Syndrome (LAS).
From FBI website
Being a victim of a crime can be a very difficult and stressful experience. While most people are naturally
resilient and over time will find ways to cope and adjust, there can be a wide range of after effects to a
trauma. One person may experience many of the effects, a few, or none at all. Not everyone has the
same reaction. In some people the reaction may be delayed days, weeks, or even months. Some victims
may think they are “going crazy,” when they are having a normal reaction to an abnormal event.

After fourteen years as a victim of State Crime, Corruption and Legal Abuse causing me to lose
three businesses; my mind, body and spirit couldn’t take anymore.
On May 10, 2010, (The day before the Sham Legal Preceding was supposed to begin) I was
admitted to the hospital for Cardiac Dysrhythmia and high blood pressure where I was prescribed
the medication Metoprolol. Some of the side effects of the Metoprolol were; dizziness,
confusion, difficulty breathing, impaired thinking and reasoning, and short-term memory loss.

The opposing party only summated one document; and that was the court order signed by David
Sunderland with a time stamp 7/10/2009, 12:53pm stating; “Plaintiff concedes that he will
introduce no evidence that McGowan’s representation in the probate matters fall below any
standard of care based upon this Court’s grant of summary judgment to McGowan on that point.”
(Highlighted in yellow).
That is what the lawsuit was all about against McGowan “The standard of care of McGowan’s
representation in the probate matters”. If the claim of this statement held up, I could have
every document, deposition, interrogatory, and expert witness report for the probate matters
and they would claim that I could not introduce them as evidence. There would be no reason
to file a lawsuit and no case. They themselves covered from all angles…
It is bad enough to be bushwhacked but to be order into an ambush knowing that the entire
legal procedure has already been scripted in the opposing parties favor, it is more like standing
in front of a firing squad with your hand tied behind your back and calling it a fair battle.

Please advice, as we are all in a holding pattern on how to proceed with cleaning up the
aftermath from these intolerable acts.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 15th day of November, 2011

By: ________________________________
Stephen R. Lilley
2900 S. Waynesville Rd.
Morrow, OH 45152

